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In attorney disciplinary proceedings,

the Supreme Court of Appeals, 188 W.Va.

136, 394 S.E.2d 735, remanded to Commit-

tee on Legal Ethics for mitigation hearing.

Following hearing, the Supreme Court of

A g Appeals, Miller, J., held that three-year sus-

pension, along with payment of costs in-

curred by Committee, is appropriate sanc-

tion after attorney pleads guilty in federal

district court to willfully evading payment

of federal income taxes by failing to report

other persons’ payment of interest on attor-
ney's bank loan.

Suspended.
Brotherton, J., filed dissenting opinion.

1. Attorney and Client ¢=54
Constitutional Law ¢=287.3

When annulment of attorney’s license
is sought based on felony convietion, due
process requires that attorney be given
right to request evidentiary hearing. State
Bar By-Laws, Art. 6, § 23; U.5.C.A. Const.
Amends. 5, 14.

2. Attorney and Client =58

Disbarment of attorney and annulment

of his license are two ways of expressing

, same form of punishment; “annulment”

‘ : relates to license and “disbarment” refers
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to the individual. State Bar By-Laws, Art.
6, § 35.
See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.
3. Aitorney and Client &=58

Attorney's right to evidentiary mitiga-
tion hearing when annulment of license is
sought is not automatic; in order to obtain
hearing, attorney must-make request there-
for after Committee on Legal Ethies files
its petition with Supreme Court of Appeals.
State Bar By-Laws, Art. 6, § 25.

4, Attorney and Client ¢=58

Cases in which mitigation hearing will
be appropriate when annulment of attor-
ney’s license is sought are the exception
rather than the rule, and whether mitiga-
tion hearing is appropriate in particular
instance will depend upon variety of fac-
tors, including but not limited to nature of
attorney’s misconduct, surrounding facts
and circumstances, previous ethical viola-
tions, willfulness of conduct, and adequacy
of attorney’s previous opportunity to pres-
ent evidence sufficient for determination of
appropriate sanctions.

5. Attorney and Client 58

In diseiplinary proceedings, Supreme
Court of Appeals, rather than endeavoring
to establish uniform standard of disciplin-
ary action, will consider facts and circum-
stances in each case, including mitigating
facts and circumstances, in determining
what disciplinary action, if any, is appropri-
ate, and when Committee on Legal Ethics
initiates proceedings before Court, it has
duty to advise Court of all pertinent facts
with reference to charges and recom-
mended disciplinary action.

6. Attorney and Client =58

Ethical violations by lawyer holding
public office are viewed as mere egregious
because of betrayal of public trust attached
to the office.

7. Attorney and Client &=58, 59
Three-year suspension and payment of
costs incurred by Committee on Legal Eth-
ics, rather than disbarment, is warranted
when attorney pleads guilty in federal dis-
trict court to willfully evading payment of
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federal income taxes by failing to report
other persons’ payment of interest on bank
léan obtained by attorney, even though at-
torney is government official. 26 US.C.A.
§ 7201; State Bar By-Laws, Art. 6, § 23.

8. Attorney and Client =58

In determining whether disbarment is
warranted after attorney is convicted in
federal court for willfully evading payment
of federal income taxes, some distinetion
can be made between attorney who directly
veceives income payments, and attorney
who is unaware of unsolicited payments
made by others to third parties on attor-
ney's behalf. 26 U.S.C.A. § 7201; State
Bar By-Laws, Art. 6, § 28.

Syllabus by the Court

1. “Where annulment of an attor-
ney’s license is sought based on a felony
conviction under Article VI, Section 23 of
the Constitution, By-Laws, and Rules and
Regulations of the West Virginia State
Bar, due process requires the attorney be
given the right to request an evidentiary
hearing[.]” Syllabus Point 2, in part, Com-
mittee on Legal Ethics v. Boettner, 183
W.Va. 136, 394 S.E.2d 735 (1990).

2. Under Article VI, Section 35 of the
Constitution, By-Laws, and Rules and Reg-
ulations of the West Virginia State Bar,
disbarment of an attorney and annulment
of his license are two ways of expressing
the same form of punishment. The annul-
ment of a license to practice law consti-
tutes a disbarment. Annulment relates to
the license and disbarment refers to the
individual.

3. “The right to an evidentiary miti-
gation hearing is not automatic. In order
to obtain sueh a hearing, the attorney must
make a request therefor after the Commit-
tee on Legal Ethics files its petition with
this Court under Article V1, Section 25 of
the Constitution, By-Laws, and Rules and
Regulations of the West Virginia State
Bar.”” Syllabus Point 3, Commitlee on
Legal Ethics v. Boetiner, 183 W.Va. 136,
394 S.E.2d 735 (1990).

4. “The cases in which a mitigation
hearing will be appropriate are the excep-
tion rather than the rule. Whether a miti-

gation hearing is appropriate in a particu-
jar instance will depend upon a variety of
factors, including but not limited to, the
nature of the attorney's misconduct, sur-
rounding facts and circumstances, previous
ethical violations, the wilfulness of the con-
duct, and the adequacy of the attorney’s
previous opportunity to present evidence
sufficient for a determination of appropri-
ate sanctions.” Syllabus Point 3, Commit-
tee on Legal Ethics v. Folio, 184 W.Va.
503, 401 S.E.2d 248 (1990).

§. “‘“In disciplinary proceedings,
this Court, rather than endeavoring to es-
tablish a uniform standard of disciplinary
action, will consider the facts and circum-
stances {in each case], including mitigating
facts and circumstances, in determining
what disciplinary action, if any, is appropri-
ate, and when the committee on legal ethics
initiates proceedings before this Court, it
has a duty to advise this Court of all perti-
nent facts with reference to the charges
and the recommended disciplinary action.”
Syl. pt. 2, Committee on Legal Ethics v.
Mullins, 169 W.Va. 647, 226 S.E.2d 427
(1976) Syllabus Point 2, Committee on
Legal Ethics v. Higinbotham, [176 W.Va.
186], 342 S.E.2d 152 (1986).” Syllabus
Point 4, Committee on Legal Ethics w.
Roark, 181 W.Va. 260, 382 S.E.2d 313
(1989).

8. “Ethical violations by a lawyer
holding a public office are viewed as more
egregious because of the betrayal of the
public trust attached to the office.” Sylla-
bus Point 8, Committee on Legal Ethics v.
Roark, 181 W.Va. 260, 382 S.E.2d 313
(1989).

Maria Marino Potter, The West Virginia
State Bar, Charleston, for complainant.

« James T. Cooper, Lovett, Cooper &
Glass, Charleston, for respondent,

MILLER, Justice:

This disciplinary case involves a convie-
tion of the respondent attorney by guilty
plea in the federal district court for willful-
ly evading the payment of federal income
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taxes under 26 U.S.C. § 7201.! This viola-
tion occurred when two individuals made
interest payments totaling approximately
$4,600 due on a bank loan obtained by the
respondent.

{11 In our earlier opinion, Commitiee
on Legal Ethics v. Boettner, 183 W.Va,
136, 394 S.E.2d 735 (1990), we remanded
this ease for a mitigation hearing in accor-
dance with Syllabus Point 2, in part:

“Where annulment of an attorney’s li-
cense is sought based on a felony convie-
tion under Article VI, Section 23 of the
Constitution, By-Laws, and Rules and
Regulations of the West Virginia State
Bar, due process requires the attorney be
given the right to request an evidentiary
hearing[.]”

We gave several explanations for adopting
this rule.

[2] We recognized that under Article
VI, Section 23 of the Constitution, By-
Laws, and Rules and Regulations of the
West Virginia State Bar (Bar By-Laws),
the annulment of any attorney's license
was mandatory on proof of a conviction of
a crime involving moral turpitude.? In pri-
or cases we had determined that the willful
failure to pay income taxes under 26 U.S.C.
§ 7201 was a crime involving moral turpi-
tude. See, e.g., In re West, 155 W.Va. 648,
186 S.E.2d 776 (1972); In the Matier of
Mann, 1561 W.Va, 644, 1564 S.E.2d 860
(1967).2 Consequently, upon conviction of
such an offense, an attorney’s license
would be automatically annulled. In note 5
of Committee on Legal Ethics v. Six, 181
W.Va. 52, 54, 380 8.E.2d 219, 221 (1989), we
recognized that “annuiment” is equivalent
to “digbarment’:

1. 26 US.C. § 7201 states:

“Any person who willfully attempts in any
manner to evade or defeat any tax imposed by
this title or the payment thereof shall, in addi-
tion to other penalties provided by law, be
guilty of a felony and, upon conviction there-
of, shall be fined not more than $100,000
($500,000 in the case of a corporation}, or
imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both,
together with the costs of prosecution.”

2. The relevant language of Article VI, Section 23
of the Bar By-Laws provides: "The license of

“[I]t is clear under Article VI, Section 35
of the Bar By-Laws that disbarment of
an attorney and annuiment of his license
are two ways of expressing the same
form of punishment. ‘The annulment of
a license to practice law ... shall consti-
tute a disbarment.’ Annulment relates
to the license and disharment refers to
the individual.”

We also recognized in Boetiner, howev-
er, that the American Bar Association’s
Model Rules of Professional Conduet,
which had become effective in this state on
January 1, 1989, had abolished the term
“moral turpitude”; instead, Rule 8.4 de-
fines “professional misconduct” as ‘‘a crim-
inal act that reflects adversely on the law-
yer’s honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as
a lawyer(.]” The commentary to the Model
Rules states:

“The Model Rules also eliminate the
troublesome ‘moral turpitude’ standard
of DR 1-102(A)(3) of the Medel Code [of
Professional Responsibility]. ...

Commentators have criticized the Mod-
el Code’s reference to ‘moral turpitude’
as inviting subjective judgments of di-
verse lifestyles instead of focusing on
the lawyer's ability and fitness to prac-
tice law.” Annotated Model Rules of
Professional Conduct 3563-564 (American
Bar Association 1984).

In view of this, we concluded in Boetiner
that there was a certain harshness about
the automatic disbarment standard in tax
evasion cases:

“We find merit in Rule 8.4's abandon-
ment of the term ‘moral turpitude’ and
the rule’s focus on the criminal act as it
reflects on the attorney’s fitness to prac-
tice law. Moreover, we believe that
there is a certain rigidity to the approach

any attorney shall be annulled and such attor-
ney shall be disbarred upon proof that he has
been convicted—(a) of any crime involving mor-
al turpitude or professional unfitness{.]”

3. Syllabus Point 1 of In the Matter of Mann, .
supra, states: “A conviction of a charge of will-
fully attempting to evade and defeat income
taxes in vioclation of the provision of Section
7201, Internal Revenue Code, (26 U.5.C., Section
7201), is a conviction involving moral turpi-
tude.”
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taken in our tax evasion cases. By cate-
gorizing all tax evasion convictions as
involving ‘moral turpitude,” annulment of
the license becomes automatic under Ar-
ticte VI, Section 23 of the Bar By-Laws.”
183 W.Va. at 139, 394 S.E.2d at 738

This is particularly true when we look to
other jurisdictions where tax evasion cases
involving attorneys are dealt with by a
suspension for a period of time rather than
a total disbarment.!

Another factor leading to the creation of
a mitigation hearing in Boettner was a due
process consideration. This arose by virtue
of the fact that under Articte VI, Section 25
of the Bar By-Laws, “a certified copy of
the order or conviction shall be conclusive
evidence of guilt of the crime or erimes of
which the attorney has been convicted.”
Under this procedure, the attorney had no
right to any evidentiary hearing in regard
to those charges which would lead to dis-
barment. We stated in Boetiner: “There
is general agreement that a license to prac-
tice law is a valuable right, such that its
withdrawal mugt be accompanied by appro-
priate due process procedures.” 183 W.Va.
at 139, 394 8.E.2d at 788. (Citations omit-
ted).

(31 Although we created the right to
apply for a mitigation hearing where annul-
ment was sought, we surrounded it with
several safeguards, as illustrated by Sylla-
bus Point 3 of Boetiner:

“The right to an evidentiary mitigation
hearing is not automatic. In order to
obtain such a hearing, the attorney must
make a request therefor after the Com-

4. See, e.g., Supreme Court Comm. on Profession-
al Conduct v. Jones, 256 Ark. 1106, 509 S.W.2d
294 (1974); Florida Bar v. Ryan, 352 So.2d 1174
(Fla.1977); In re Waiker, 67 1il.2d 48, 7 Ill.Dec.
89, 364 NL.E.2d 76 (1977); Committee on Profes-
sional Ethics & Conduct v. Ulstad, 376 N.W.2d
612 (lowa 1985); Louisianta State Bar Ass'n v.
Ponder, 340 So.2d 134 (La.1976), appeal dism'd,
431 U.S. 934, 97 S.Ct. 2643, 53 L.Ed.2d 251
(1977); In re Barta, 461 NW.2d 382 (Minn.
1990); In re Del Mauro, 67 N.J, 400, 341 A.2d
325 (1975); Matter of Brown, 15 A.D.2d 398, 429
N.Y.S.2d 810 (1980); Allen County Bar Assn v.
King, 48 Ohio St.3d 8, 548 N.E.2d 238 (19%90);
Matter of Eisenberg, B1 Wis.2d 175, 259 N.W.2d
745 (1977), cert. denied, 436 U.S. 946, 98 S.Ct.

mittee on Legal Ethics files its petition
with this Court under Article VI, Section
25 of the Constitution, By-Laws, and
Rules and Regulations of the West Virgi-
nia State Bar.”

Moreover, in Syllabus Point 2, in part, we
identified the focus of the mitigation hear-
ing: “The purpose of such a hearing is not
to attack the convietion collaterally, but to
introduce mitigating factors which may
bear on the disciplinary punishment to be
imposed.”

[4] Subsequently, in Commitice on Le-
gal Ethics ». Folio, 184 W.Va. 503, 401
S8.E.2d 248 (1990), we explained in Syllabus
Point 8 some additional factors that should
be considered in determining whether a
mitigation hearing should be granted:

“The cases in which a mitigation hear-
ing will be appropriate are the exception
rather than the rule. Whether a mitiga-
tion hearing is appropriate in a particular
instance will depend upon a variety of
factors, including but not limited to, the
nature of the attorney’s miseonduct, sur-
rounding facts and circumstances, previ-
ous ethical violations, the wilfulness of
the conduct, and the adequacy of the
attorney’s previous opportunity to pres-
ent evidence sufficient for a determina-
tion of appropriate sanctions.”

The factors considered in Folio are simi-
lar to those listed by the American Bar
Association in its “Standards for Imposing
Lawyer Sanctions” as being relevant miti-
gating circumstances to justify a reduction
in the degree of discipline to be imposed.
These factors are: (a} absence of a prior

2850, 56 L.Ed.2d 788 (1978). See generally An-
not., 63 A.L.R.3d 512 (1975).

5. The relevant text of Article VI, Section 25 of
the Bar By-Laws reads:

“In any proceeding to suspend or annul the
license of any such attorney because of his
conviction of any crime or crimes mentioned
in sections twenty-three or twenty-four, a cer-
tified copy of the order or judgment of convic-
tion shall be conclusive evidence of guilt of
the crime or crimes of which the attorney has
been convicted. A plea or verdict of guilty or
a conviction after a plea of nolo contendere
shall be deemed to be a conviction within the
meaning of this section.”
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disciplinary record; (b) absence of a dishon-
est or selfish motive; {c) personal or emo-
tional problems; {d) timely good faith ef-
fort to make restitution or to rectify conse-
quences of misconduct; (e) full and free
disclosure to disciplinary board or coopera-
tive attitude toward proceedings; (f) inex-
perience in the practice of law; (g) charac-
ter or reputation; (h) physical or mentai
disability or impairment; (i} delay in disci-
plinary proceedings; (j) interim rehabilita-
tion; (k) imposition of other penalties or
sanctions; (I) remorse; and (m) remoteness
of prior offenses.®

[5,6] With regard to what is an appro-
priate disciplinary sentence for an attorney,
we have traditionally recognized that it is
not possible to set a uniform standard, as
we acknowledged in Syllabus Point 4 of
Committee on Legal Ethics v. Roark, 181
W.Va. 260, 382 S.E.2d 313 (1989):

“tuTy  diseiplinary proceedings, this

Court, rather than endeavoring to estab-
lish a uniform standard of disciplinary
action, will consider the facts and circum-
stances [in each case], including mitigat-
ing facts and circumstances, in determin-
ing what disciplinary action, if any, is
appropriate, and when the committee on
legal ethics initiates proceedings before
this Court, it has a duty to advise this
Court of all pertinent facts with refer-
ence to the charges and the recom-
mended disciplinary action.”” Syl pt. 2,
Comumittee on Legal Ethics v. Mullins,
159 W.Va, 647, 226 S.E.2d 427 (1976).
Syllabus Point 2, Committee on Legal
Ethics v. Higinbothom, [176 W.Va. 186),
342 S.E.2d 152 (1986)."

Roark is also instruetive on the proposition
that where an attorney holds a public office
his or her ethical violations are viewed
more seriously, as we explained in Syllabus
Point 3:

6. “Standards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline,”
50 (American Bar Ass'n, Center for Professional
Responsibility 1991 ed.).

7. Mr. D’Annunzio was deceased at the time of
the mitigation hearing. The record reflects that
he had acted as a lobbyist.

8. The respondent’s pleca agreement in connec-
tion with the criminal violation allowed him to

“Ethical violations by a lawyer holding
a public office are viewed as more egre-
gious because of the betrayal of the pub-
lie trust attached to the office.”

[7] In this case, the respondent was a
member and majority leader of the State
Senate and chairman of the Senate Judieia-
ry Committee at the time of the offenses.
The loan in question was obtained to pay
off the respondent’s back campaign ex-
penses. At the mitigation hearing, much
of the testimony was devoted to showing
that the respondent was guilty of only a
“technical” violation of the Internal Reve-
nue Code. The respondent, along with an
independent witness, sought to explain that
the interest payments were not made at the
respondent’s request.

One of the payors, Mr. D’ Annunzio, was
a director of the bank where the loan was
obtained.” He apparently had been active
in securing the loan for the respondent.
According to the record, Mr. D’Annunzio
was aware of the bank’s concern over the
loan’s delinquency. He made two pay-
ments totaling $3,619.55. The other payor
made a payment in the amount of $500.

Testimony was also introduced on the
respondent’s behalf through a tax attorney,
a Mr. Ricardi, as to the civil liability for
income taxes owed as a result of the fore-
going payments.® It was Mr. Ricardi’s
view that because the third-party payments
were for interest owed the bank and be-
cause the interest was a deductible ex-
pense, any income to discharge it would be
a “wash” for tax purposes.®

Other mitigating factors that can be
gleaned from the record include the fact
that the respondent has not received any
other disciplinary punishment. He devoted
some five years at the beginning of his law
practice to legal services and public inter-
est law groups. He also testified that even

contest his civil tax liability with the Internal
Revenue Service.

9. There was also evidence introduced by the
respondent that he had not been able to obtain
the cooperation of the Internal Revenue Service
to settle the civil tax obligation question.
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in his private practice, he has devoted a
considerable amount of time to public inter-
est work. Moreover, until this event, the
respondent enjoyed a good character and
reputation and was regarded as a conscien-
tious public servant.'® Finally, we consider
the offense itself. The respondent did ex-
press remorse, although this was tempered
to some degree by his insistence that he
was unaware of the tax consequences of
the interest payments. It was apparent
that the respondent was inexperienced in
the federal income tax law.

{8] Of some importance is the fact that
the interest payments the respondent failed
to report would have increased his taxable
income of $25,046 by approximately $4,000,
and increased his income tax liability $8,456
to $10,083. This is not a substantial
amount. We believe some distinction can
be made between an individual who directly
receives income payments and an individual
who is unaware of unsolicited payments
made by others to third parties.

In considering an appropriate punish-
ment in light of the foregoing, we recog-
nize that the Committee's recommendation
of disbarment is analogous to a five-year
suspension because Article VI, Section 35
of the Bar By-Laws permits a disbarred
attorney to apply for reinstatement of his
license to practice after five years.!! In
Committee on Legul Ethics v. Roark, su-
pra, the respondent entered a guilty plea in
federal district court to six misdemeanor
counts of possession of cocaine. Pursuant
to the plea agreement, twenty-four other
counts in the indictment were dismissed.
The attorney had held the offices of prose-
cuting attorney and Mayor of the City of

10. The federal judge who handied the criminal
prosecution of the respondent had this to say
about the respondent at the sentencing hearing:

“Both your career and your financial histo-
ry satisfy the court that you are not an indi-
vidual motivated by greed, for 6 of your 21
years of practicing law were largely sacri-
fice[d] to the benefit of needy clientele of the
Legal Aid Society and the Appalachian Re-
gearch and Defense Fund. That was followed
by these last 15 years in the legislature where
you pursued a political carcer which has sim-
ply consumed your intention and attention,
and proved costly to your efforts to establish
a remunerative law practice.”

Charleston during the periocd when the
crimes were committed. Prior to the com-
mission of these offenses, the respondent
had enjoyed an excellent reputation and
good character in the community. We im-
posed a three-year suspension,

In Committee on Legal Ethics v. Folio,
supra, the attorney had been convicted by
a jury in the federal district court on one
felony count of conspiracy to obstruct jus-
tice. We refused to grant a mitigation
hearing and affirmed the annulment of the
attorney’s license.

More recently, in Commitiee on Legal
Ethics v. Craig, 187 W.Va. 14, 415 S.E.2d
255 (1992), we imposed a three-year suspen-
sion on an attorney who had worked as an
administrative assistant to the governor
and illegally distributed $100,000 in cam-
paign funds. He had also received from
the governor a $5,000 cash payment, which
he did not initially declare on his income
tax return, and admitted lying to a federal
grand jury about the distribution of cam-
paign funds. Upon becoming aware of the
governor's attempt te cover up the transae-
tion, however, the attorney had his attor-
ney contact the federal prosecutor’s office
to report that he had lied to the grand jury.
He subsequently testified truthfully to the
grand jury and was not criminally indicted.
He also filed an amended tax return to
report the $5,000 payment.

In the present case, while the funds in-
volved are not substantial and there are
some mitigating factors, as earlier noted,
the crime does involve a felony. The plea
bargain which accompanied the guilty plea
resulted in the Government's agreement

11. Article VI, Section 35 of the Bar By-Laws
provides, in relevant part:

“The annulment of a license to practice law
by any court of competent jurisdiction shall
revoke and terminate such license, and shall
constitute a disbarment; provided, however,
after the expiration of five (5} years from the
date of such disbarment, a person, whose li-
cense to practice law has been or shall be
annulled in this State and who shall desire
reinstatement of such license, may file a veri-
fied petition [in this Court for reinstate-
ment].”
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not to pursue two other charges that had
been investigated.” Under all the eircum-
gtances, we find that a three-year suspen-
gion and the payment of the costs incurred
by the Committee i8 an appropriate sanc-
tion,

Three-year suspension and costs.

BROTHERTON, J., dissents and
reserves the right to file a digsenting
opinion.

McHUGH, CJ., CONCUYS,

BROTHERTON, Justice, dissenting:

1 dissent to the majority opinion for
number of reasons.

The Committee on Legal Ethics of the
West Virginia State Bar recommended on
two separate occagions that John L. Boett-
ner, Jr.'s license t0 practice law be annulled
as a result of his guilty plea to 3 felony in
the United States District Court for the
Southern Distriet of West Virginia.!

In the first hearing, The Comanittes O
Legal Ethics of the West Virginia State
Bar v. Boettner, 183 W.Va. 136, 394 S.E.2d
736 (1990), this Court remanded the case to
the State Legal Ethics Committee for a
mitigation hearing. 1 dissented to the re
mand for a mitigation hearing in Boetiner,
supra, and 1 also dissented to the mitiga-
tion standards which were established in
The Committee 07 Legal BEthics of the
West Virginia State Bar v Craif 187
W.Va. 14, 415 g.E.2d 255 (1992).

The guidelines established in the Boett-
ner remand and the mitigation standards
established in the Craig case resulted in
the Legal Ethics Committee’s second Tec-
ommendation that Boettner’s law license be
annulled. However, after a review of the
recornmendation and the mitigation record,
a majority of this Court reduced the recom-
mended annulment to 2 three-year suspen-
gion. I cite my previous dissents in Boett-
ner and Craig as the reason for my dissent
in this case.

12. It appears that the Government had brought
charges of a Hobb's Act violation under 18
U.s.C. § 1951 and conspiracy under 18 U.S.C.
§ 371.

This case appears o continue to uphold
the new standard adopted by 2 majority of
this Court, that of holding lawyers to a
standard of mediocrity rather than a stan-
dard of excellence.



"STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

”arid held at Charleston, Kanawha County, on the 16th day of

At .a Regular Term of the Supreme Court of Appeals continued_

Ooctober, 1992, the following order was made and entered:

RE: ORDER ENTERED BY THE Si.lPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES
"SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

The Committee on Legal Ethics of The
West Virginia State Bar

vs.) No. 19211

John L. Boettner, Jr., Respondent

On a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the
Supreme Court of Appeals of the State of West Virginia, No.
19211,

On consideration of the Petition for a Writ of
Certiorari herein to the Supreme Court of Appeals of the State of]
West Virginia.

It is ordered by this Court that the said petition
be, and the same is hereby, denied.
(S EAL)
A True Copy WILLIAM K. SUTER
TEST:

Clerk of the Supreme Court of the United States

By: _(signed)
Deputy"

all of which is ordered to be certified to The West Virginia

State Bar.
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REPORTS. UNTIL RELEASED, IT IS SUBJECT TO REVISION OR WITHDRAWAL.

THE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL ETHICS OF THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE BAR
V.
John L. BOETTNER, JR., an active member of the West Virginia State Bar
No. 19211
Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia.
July 27, 1992.

Brotherton, Justice, dissenting:

*1 I dissent to the majority opinion for a number of reasons. -
The Committee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia State Bar recommended on
two separate occasions that John L. Boettner, Jr.’s license to practice law be
annulled as a result of his guilty plea to a felony in the United States

District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia. [FN1]

In the first hearing, The Committee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia
State Bar v. Boettner, 183 W.Va. 136, 394 S.E.2d 735 (1990), this cCourt
remanded the case to the State Legal Ethics Committee for a mitigation
hearing. I dissented to the remand for a mitigation hearing in Boettner,
supra, and I also dissented to the mitigation standards which were established
in The Committee on Legal Ethics of the West Virginia State Bar v. Craig,
W.V4., 415 S.E.2d 255 (1992). _

Thﬂgguidelines established in the Boettner remand and the mitigation
standards established in the Craig case resulted in the Legal Ethics
Committee’s second recommendation that Boettner’s law license be annulled.
However, after a review of the recommendation and the mitigation record, a
majority of this Court reduced the recommended annulment to a three-year
suspension. I cite my previous dissents in Boettner and Craig as the
reason for my dissent in this case.

This case appears to continue to uphold the new standard adopted by a majority
of this Court, that of holding lawyers to a standard of mediocrity rather than
a standard of excellence.

FN1. As part of his plea agreement, two other charges against Boettner
which had been investigated by the United States Attorney were not pursued.

W.Va.,1992.

THE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL ETHICS OF THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE BAR V. John L.
BOETTNER, JR., an active member of the West Virginia State Bar
-—=S,E.2d~-=-, 1992 WL 173631 (W.Va.)
END OF DOCUMENT
COPR. (C) WEST 1992 NO CLAIM TO ORIG. U.S. GOVT. WORKS
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iSTATE OF WEST VIRGINIA
1! At a Regular Term of the Supreme Court of Appeals

‘continued and held at Charleston, Kanawha County, on the 14th
day of May, 1992, the following order was made and entered:

The Committee on Legal Ethics of The
West Virginia State Bar, Complainant

vs.) No. 19211
John L. Boettner, Jr., Respondent

‘ on a former day, to-wit, May 13, 1992, came the
*betitioner, John L. Beoettner, Jr., by Lovett, Cooper & Glass,.

;and James T. Cooper, his attorneys, and presented to the cOurt.
{
;Pis motion in writing for a stay of execution in the
Labove-captioned proceeding.
1| '

! Upon consideration whereof, the Court is of

?opinion to and doth hereby grant said motion. It is therefore
%considered and ordered by the Court that a ninety-day stay of i
Jexeqution should be, and same is hereby granted, and the mandate

I
iof this Court entered herein on the 13th day of May, 1992, is

'Estayed pending decision of the petitioner’s application to the ;

wSupreme Court of the United States for a writ of certiorari ¥
|
?ﬁherefrom; all of which is ordered to be certified to the .

Committee on Legal Ethics of The West Virginia State Bar and all |

parties hereto. ' ;

A True Copy )&Wg/

Attest:

Clerk, Supreme Court of Appeals




IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

September 1991 Term

1 hiﬁ. 'a:j_ e

P e
No. 19211 s @ B
THE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL ETHICS o '
OF THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE BAR, MAR =4 1992
Complainant

o .':'. ».'-1‘w‘.'-".." f;"’/: v )
v bl 7‘6 ’;ﬂ‘."‘r /\/ ;'-h- . - :::':j‘%
o,

CLEfK OF THE
JOHN L. BOETTNER, JR., AN ACTIVE MEMBER‘AEME COURT OF NeaEALS
OF WE ST VIRGIMIA

OF THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE BAR,
Respondent

Recommendation of the Committee on Legal Ethics
I.D. No. 89-298

Three-Year Suspension and Costs

Submitted: November 6, 1991
Filed: March 24, 1992

Maria Marino Potter

The West Virginia State Bar
charleston, West Virginia
Attorney for the Complainant

James T. Cooper

Lovett, Cooper & Glass
charleston, West Virginia
Attorney for the Respondent

JUSTICE MILLER delivered the opinion of the Court.

JUSTICE BROTHERTON dissents and reserves the right to file a

dissenting opinion.

CHIEF JUSTICE MCHUGH concurs and reserves the right to file a

concurring opinion.



depend upon a variety of factors, including but not limited to, the

naﬁure of the attdrney's misconduct, surroun&ing facts and
circumstances, previous ethical violations, the wilfulness of the
conduct, and the adequacy of the attorney’s brevious opportunity to
present evidence suff;c;ent for a determination of approPriate
sanctions." Syllabus Point 3, __4mgu3g5Lgnﬂnggl_E;ni_g_ﬂ_ﬂg_lig
184 W. Va. 503, 401 S.E.2d 248 (1990).

5., Ww'/vIn disciplinary proceedings, this Court, rather
than endeavoring to establish a uniform standard of disciplinary
action, will consider the facts and circumstances [in each case],
including mitigating facts and circumstances, in determining what
disciplinary action, if any, is appropriate, and when the committee
on legal ethics initiates proceedings before this court, it has a
duty to advise this Ccourt of all pertinent facts with reference to
the charges and the recommended disciplinary action." Syl. pt. 2,
Committee on Legal Ethics v. Mullins, 159 W. Va. 647, 226 S.E.2d
427 (1976) .7 Syllabus Peint 2, g;mmuJg;g;_sgL_ngg;__Eggig§_3L=
Higinbotham, [176 W. Va. 186], 342 S.E.2d 152 (1986)." Syllabus

Point 4, Committee © al Ethics v. Roark, 181 W. Va. 260, 382

S.E.2d 313 (1989).

6. "Ethical violations by a lawyer holding a public
office are viewed as more egregious because of the betrayal of the

public trust attached to the office."™ Syllabus Point 3, Committee
on Legal Ethics v. Roark, 181 W. va. 260, 382 S.E.2d 313 (1989).
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SYLLABUS BY THE COURT

1. "Where annulment of an attorney’s license is sought

based on a felony conviction under Article vI, Secﬁion 25 of the.
‘c::ns'.titution, .By-Laws, and Rules and Regulations of the West
Virginia State Bar, due process requires the attorney be given the
right to request an evidentiary hearing[.]" Syllabus Point 2, in
part, Committee on Le Ethics v.- oettner, 183 W. Va. 136, 394

S.E.2d 735 (1990).

5. Under Article VI, Section 35 of the COnstitution, 
By-Laws, and Rules and Regqulations of the West virginia State Bar,
disbarment of an attorney and annulment of his license are two ways
of expressing the same form of punishment. The annulment of a
license to practice law constitutes a disbarment. Annulment

relates to the license and disbarment refers to the individual.

3. "The right to an evidentiary mitigation hearing is
not automatic. In order to obtain such a hearing, the attorney
must make a request therefor after the Committee on Legal Ethics
files its petition with this Court under Article VI, Section 25 of
the Constitution, By-laws, and Rules and Regulations of the West
virginia State Bar." syllabus Point 3, Qgmmi;;gg_gn_nggl_g;g;gg
v. Boettner, 183 W. Va. 136, 394 S.E.2d 735 (1990).

4. "The cases in which a mitigation hearing will be
appropriate are the exception rather than the rule. Whether a

mitigation hearing is appropriate in a particular instance will



- Miller, Justice:

_ This disciplinary case involves a conviction of the
respondent attorney by guilty plea in the federal district court
for willfully evading the payment of federal income taxes under 26
U.8.C. § 7201.' This violation occurred when two individuals made
interest payments totaling approximately $4,000 due on a bank loan

obtained by the respondent.

In our .earlier opinion, Committee on Ledgal Ethics v...

Boettnex, 183 W. Va. 136, 394 S.E.2d4 735 (1990), we remanded this

case for a mitigation hearing in accordance with Syllabus Point 2,

in part:

"Where annulment of an attorney’s license is
sought based on a felony conviction under
Article VI, Section 23 of the constitution,
By-Laws, and Rules and Regqulations of the West
virginia state Bar, due process redquires the
attorney be given the right to request an
evidentiary hearing(.]"

We gave several explanations for adopting this rule.

96 U.S.C. § 7201 states:

"Any person who willfully attempts
in any manner to evade or defeat any tax
imposed by this title or the payment thereof
shall, in addition to other penalties
provided by law, be guilty of a felony and,
upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not
more than $100,000 ($500,000 in the case of a
corporation), or imprisoned not more than 5
years, or both, together with the costs of
prosecution."



We recognized that under Article VI, Section 23 of the
constitution, By-laws, and Rules and Regqulations of the West
virginia State Bar (Bar By-lLaws), the annulment of any attorney’s
1icense was mandatory on proof of a conviction of a crime involving
moral turpitude.? In prior cases we had determined that the
willful failure to pay income taxes under 26 U.S.C. § 7201 was a
crime inveolving moral turpitude. See, e.g., In re West, 155 W. Va.
648, 186 S.E.2d 776 (1972); In the Matter of Mann, 151 W. Va. 644,
154 S.E.2d 860 (1967).° Consequently, upon conviction of such an
offense, an attorney’s license would be automatically annulled. In
note 5 of Committee on Legal Ethics v. Six, 181 W. Va. 52, , 380
s.B.2d 219, 221 (1%89), we recognized that "annulment" is
equivalent to ndisbarment":

"[I]t is clear under Article VI, Section 35 of

the Bar By~-Laws that disbarment of an attorney

and annulment of his license are two ways of

expressing the same form of punishment. ‘The

annulment of a license to practice law . . .

shall constitute a disbarment.’ Annulment

relates to the license and disbarment refers
to the individual."

We also recognized in Boettner, however, that the

American Bar Association’s Model Rules of Professional Conduct,

2rhe relevant language of Article VI, Section 23 of the
Bar By-Laws provides: nThe license of any attorney shall be
annulled and such attorney chall be disbarred upon proof that he
has been convicted--(a) of any crime involving moral turpitude or
professional unfitness(.]"

3syllabus Point 1 of In the Matter of Mann, supra,
states: "A conviction of a charge of willfully attempting to
evade and defeat income taxes in violation of the provision of
Ssection 7201, Internal Revenue Code, {26 U.S.C., Section 7201),

is a conviction inveolving moral turpitude."

2



which had become effective in this state on January 1, 1989, had
abolished the term "mofal turpitude"; instead, Rule 8.4 defines
wprofessional misconduct® as wa criminal act that reflects
adversely on the lawyer’s honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a
lawyer(.]" The commentary to the Model Rules states:

nPhe Model Rules also eliminate the
troublesome ’‘moral turpitude’ standard of DR
1-102(a) (3) of the Model Code [of Professional
Responsibility]. . . .

commentators have criticized the
Model Code’s reference to rmoral turpitude’ as
inviting subjective judgments of diverse
lifestyles instead of focusing on the lawyer’s
ability and fitness to practice law."
Annotated Model Rules of Professional Conduct
353-54 (American Bar Association 1984).

in view of this, we concluded in Boettner that there was a certain
harshness about the automatic disbarment standard in tax evasion
cases:

w"We find merit in Rule 8.4's
abandonment of the term ‘moral turpitude’ and
the rule’s focus on the criminal act as it
reflects on the attorney’s fitness to practice
law. Moreover, we believe that there is a
certain rigidity to the approach taken in our
tax evasion cases. BY categorizing all tax
evasion convictions as involving ‘moral
turpitude,’ annulment of the license becones
automatic under Article VI, section 23 of the
Bar By-Laws." 183 W. Va. at __, 394 S.E.2d
at 738.



This is particularly true when we 100k to other jurisdictions where
tax evasion cases involving attorneys are dealt with by a

suspension for a periocd of time rather than a total disbarment.*

Another factor leading to the creation of a mitigation
hearing in Boettner was a due process consideration. This arose by
virtue of the fact that under Article VI, gSection 25 of the Bar By-
Laws, "a ceftified copy ©of the order oXx conviction shall be
conclusive evidence of guilt of the crime or crimes of which the

attorney has been convicted."® Under this procedure, the attorney

tSee, e.q., Supreme Court Comm. on Profegsional Conduct
v. Joneg, 256 Ark. 1106, 509 S.W.2d 294 (1974); Florida Bar v.
Ryan, 352 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 1977); In re Walker, 67 Ill. 2d 48, 7
I11. Dec. 89, 364 N.E.2d 76 (1977): ggmmi;;gg_gn_ﬁ;g;gggiggg;
Ethics & Conduct v. Ulstad, 376 N.W.2d 612 (lowa 1985); Louisiana

 State Bar Ass’n V. Ponder, 340 So. 2d 134 (La. 1976), appeal

dism’a, 431 U.S. 934, 97 S. Ct. 2643, 53 L. Ed. 2d 251 (1977); In
re Barta, 461 N.W.2d 382 (Minn. 1990); In re Del Mauro, 67 N.J.
400, 341 A.2d 325 (1975); Matter of Brown, 75 A.D.2d 398, 429
N.Y.S.2d 810 (1980); Allen County Bar Ass’n v. King, 48 Ohio sSt.
3a 8, 548 N.E.2d 238 (1990); Matter of Eisenperg, 81 Wis. 2d 175,

359 N.W.2d 745 (1977), cert. denied, 436 U.S. 946, 98 8. Ct.

2850, 56 L. Ed. 2d 788 (1978). See generally Annot., 63 A.L.R.3d
512 (1975).

S7he relevant text of Article VI, Section 25 of the Bar
By-Laws reads:

nIn any proceeding to suspend or
annul the license of any such attorney
because of his conviction of any crime or
crimes mentioned in sections twenty-three or
twenty—-four, a certified copy of the order or
judgment of conviction shall be conclusive
evidence of guilt of the crime or crimes of
which the attorney has been convicted. A
plea or verdict of gquilty or a conviction
after a plea of nolo contendere shall be
deemed to be a conviction within the meaning
of this section."



TN
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had no right.to any evidentiary hearing in regard to those charges
which would lead to disbarment. We stated in Boettner: “There is
geheral agreement that a license to practice law is a valuable
righﬁ,.sﬁch that its withdrawal must be accompanied by appropriate
due process procedures." 183 w. Va. at ____, 394 S.E.2d4 at 738.

(Citations omitted).

Although we created the right to apply for a mitigation
hearing_where annulment was sought, we surrounded it with several

safeguards, as illustrated by Syllabus Point 3 of Boettner:

"The right to an evidentiary
mitigation hearing is not automatic. In order
to obtain such a hearing, the attorney must
make a request therefor after the Committee on
Legal Ethics files its petition with this
court under Article VI, Section 25 of the
Constitution, By-Laws, and Rules and
Regulations of the West virginia State Bar."

Moreover, in Syllabus Point 2, in part, we identified the focus of
the mitigation hearing: “The purpose of such a hearing is not to
attack the conviction collaterally, but to introduce mitigating
factors which may bear on the disciplinary punishment ¢to be
imposed."

Subsequently, in C jttee © thics v. Folio, 184
W. Va. 503, 401 S.E.2d 248 (1990), we explained in Syllabus Point 3
some additional factors that should be considered in determining
whether a mitigation hearing should@ be granted:

wThe cases in which a mitigation
hearing will be appropriate are the exception

5



rather than the rule. Whether a mitigation

hearing is appropriate in a particular

instance will depend upon a variety of

factors, including but not limited to, the

nature of the attorney’s misconduct,

surrounding facts and circumstances, previous

ethical violations, the wilfulness of the

conduct, and the adequacy of the attorney’s

previous opportunity to present evidence

sufficient for a determination of appropriate

sanctions."

The factors considered in Folio are similar to those
listed by the American Bar Association in its "Standards for
Imposing Lawyer Sanctions" as being relevant mitigating
circumstances to justify a reduction in the degree of discipline_td
be imposed. These factors are: (a) absence of a prior
disciplinary record; (b) absence of a dishonest or selfish motive;
(c) personal or emotional problems; (&) timely good faith effort to
make restitution or to rectify consequences of misconduct; (e) full
and free disclosure to disciplinary board or cooperative attitude
toward proceedings: (f) inexperience in the practice of law: (9)
character or reputation:; (h) physical or mental disability or
impairment; (i) delay in disciplinary proceedings; (3j) interim
rehabilitation; (k) imposition of other penalties or sanctions; (1)

remorse; and (m) remoteness of prior offenses.®

With regard to what is an appropriate disciplinary

sentence for an attorney, we have traditionally recognized that it

éwgrandards for Imposing Lawyer Discipline," 50
(American Bar Ass’n, Center for Professional Responsibility 1991

ed.).
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is not possible to set a uniform standard, as we acknowledged in

Syllabus Point 4 of Committee on Legal Ethics v. Roark, 181 W. Va.
260, 382 S.E.2d 313 (1989): |

“'“In.disciplinary'proceedings, this
Court, rather than endeavoring to establish a
uniform standard of disciplinary action, will
consider the facts and circumstances [in each
case], including mitigating facts and
circumstances, in  determining what
disciplinary action, if any, is appropriate,
and when the committee on legal ethics
initiates proceedings before this Court, it
has a duty to advise this Court of all
pertinent facts with reference to the charges
and the recommended disciplinary action."
syl. pt. 2, Committee on Legal Ethics V.
Mullins, 159 W. Va. 647, 226 S.E.2d 427
(1976) .’ Syllabus Point 2, Committee on Legal
Ethics v. Higinbotham, (176 W. Va. 186)], 342
S.E.2d 152 (1986)."

Roark is also instructive on the proposition that where an attorney
holds a public office his or her ethical violations are viewéd more
seriously, as we explained in Syllabus Point 3:

wEthical violations by a lawyer

holding a public office are viewed as more

egregious because of the betrayal of the

public trust attached to the office."

In this case, the respondent was a member and majority
leader of the State Senate and chairman of the Senate Judiciary
committee at the time of the offenses. The loan in question was
obtained to pay off the respondent’s back campaign expenses. At
the mitigation hearing, much of the testimony was devoted to
showing that the respondent was guilty of only a "technical"

violation of the Internal Revenue Code. The respondent, along with



‘an  independent witness, sought to explain that the interest

payments were not made at the respondent’s request.

One of the payors, Mr. D’Annunzio, was a director of the
bank where the loan was obtained.” He apparently had been active

in securing the loan for the respondent. According to the record,

‘Mr. D’Annunzio was aware of the bank’s concern over the loan’s

delinquency. He made two payments totaling $3,619.55. The other

payor made a payment in the amount of $500.

Testimony was also introduced on the respondent’s behalf
through a tax attorney, a Mr. Ricardi, as to the civil liability
for income taxes owed as a result of the foregoing payments.8 It
was Mr. Ricardi’s view that because the third-party payments were
for interest owed the bank and because the interest was a
deductible expense, any inéome to discharge it would be a "wash"

for tax purposes.’

Tr. D’Annunzio was deceased at the time of the
mitigation hearing. The record reflects that he had acted as a
lobbyist.

8The respondent’s plea agreement in connection with the
criminal violation allowed him to contest his civil tax liability
with the Internal Revenue Service. ‘

_ There was also evidence introduced by the respondent
that he had not been able to obtain the cooperation of the
Internal Revenue Service to settle the civil tax obligation
question. '
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| other mitigating factors that can be gleaned from thé
record include the fact that the respondent has not received any
other disciplinary punishment. He devoted some five years at thé
beginning of his law practice to legal gervices and public interest
law groups. He also testified that even in his private practice,

he has devoted a considerable amount of time to public interest

work. Moreover, until this event, the respondent enjoyed a good

character and reputation and was regarded as a consc-ientious public
servant.'? Finally, we consider the offense itself. Thé
résgondent did express remorse, although this was tempered to some
degree by his insistence that he was unaware of the tax
consequences of the interest payments. It was apparent that the

respondent was inexperienced in the federal income tax law.

Of some importance is the fact that the interest payments

the respondent failed to report would have increased his taxable

Wrhe federal judge who handled the criminal
prosecution of the respondent had this to say about the
respondent at the sentencing hearing:

"Both your career and your
financial history satisfy the court that you
are not an individual motivated by greed, for
6 of your 21 years of practicing law were
largely sacrifice(d] to the benefit of needy
clientele of the Legal Aid Society and the
Appalachian Research and Defense Fund. That
was followed by these last 15 years in the
legislature where you pursued a political
career which has simply consumed your
intention and attention, and proved costly to
your efforts to establish a remunerative law
practice."



income of $25,046 by approximately $4,000, and increased his income

. tax liability $8,456 to $10,033. This is not a substantial amount.

We believe some distinction can be made between an individual who
directly receives income payments and an individual who is unaware

of unsolicited payments made by others to third parties.

Tn considering an appropriate punishment in light of the
foregoing, we recognize that the Committee’s recommendation éf |
disbarment is analogous to a five-year suspension because Article
VI, Section 35 of the Bar By-Laws permits a disbarred attorney to.
apply for reinstatement of his license to practice after five
years." In Committee o eqa hics v oark, supra, the
respondent entered a guilty plea in federal district court to six
misdemeanor counts of possession of cocaine. Pursuant to the plea
agreement, twenty-four other counts in the indictment were
dismissed. The attorney had held the offices of prosecuting
attorney and Mayor of the City of charleston during the period when

the crimes were committed. Prior to the commission of these

"article VI, Section 35 of the Bar By-laws provides,
in relevant part:

"The annulment of a license to
practice law by any court of competent
jurisdiction shall revoke and terminate such
license, and shall constitute a disbarment;
provided, however, after the expiration of
five (5} years from the date of such
disbarment, a person, whose license to
practice law has peen or shall be annulled in
this State and who shall desire reinstatement
of such license, may file a verified petition

(in this court for reinstatement}."

10
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offenses, the respondent had enjoyed an excellent reputation and
good character in the community. We imposed a three-year

suspension.

In Committee on Legal Ethics v. Foljo, supra, the

attorney had been convicted by a jury in the federal district court -
on one felony count of conspiracy to obstruct justice. We refused
to grant a mitigation hearing and affirmed the annulment of the

attorney’s license.

More recently, in Committee on Legal Ethics V. Craig,

W. Va. , S.E.2d (No. 20612 2/7/92), we imposed a three-

year suspension on an attorney who had worked as an administrative
assistant to the governor and illegally distributed $100,000 in
campaign funds. He had also‘ received from the governor a $5,000
cash payment, which he did not initially declare on his income tax
return, and admitted 1lying to a federal grand jury about the
distribution of campaign funds. Upon becoming aware of the
governor’s attempt to cover up the transaction, however, the
attorney had his attorney contact the federal prosecutor’s office
to report that he had lied to the grand jury. He subsequently -
testified truthfully to the grand jury and was not criminally

indicted. He also filed an amended tax return to report the $5,000

payment.

11



In the present case, while the funds involved are not
sﬁbstantial and there are some mitigating factors, as earlier
l-j) noted; +he crime does involve a felony. The plea bargain which'
accompanied the gquilty plea resulted in the Governmment’s agreement
not to pursue two other charges that had been investigated. 12
Under all the circumstances, we find that a three-year suspension
and the payment of the costs incurred by the Committee is an

appropriate sanction.

Three~year suspension
and costs.

21t appears that the Government had brought charges of
a Hobb’s Act violation under 18 U.S.C. § 1951 and conspiracy
under 18 U.S.C. § 371.

12



